Negative effects of malachite green and possibilities of its replacement in the treatment of fish eggs and fish: a review

E. Sudova¹, J. Machova¹, Z. Svobodova^{1,2}, T. Vesely³

ABSTRACT: Malachite green has been used as an effective compound to control external fungal and protozoan infections of fish since 1933 but it has never been registered as a veterinary drug for use in food fish because of its potential carcinogenicity, mutagenicity and teratogenicity in mammals. The present paper reviews negative side-effects of malachite green including its accumulation and persistence in fish that have been treated and describes other alternative substances for the treatment of fish and fish eggs.

Keywords: malachite green; fish baths; toxicity; accumulation; residues in fish; aquatic environment; protozoan ectoparasites; fungal infections

Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Preventive and curative malachite green baths
 - 2.1. Curative fish baths
 - 2.2. Curative baths for fish eggs
- 3. Safety risks posed by the use of malachite green in fish rearing
 - 3.1. High acute toxicity to fish
 - 3.2. Side-effects for treated fish and fish eggs
 - 3.3. Accumulation and persistence in treated fish

- 3.4. Residue findings in harvest-size fish
- 3.5. Effects and persistence of malachite green in the aquatic environment
- 3.6. Toxic effects of malachite green in mammals
- 4. Alternative use of other substances for the treatment of fish eggs and fish
 - 4.1. Treatment of fish eggs
 - 4.2. Fish treatment treatment of ichthyophthiriosis and fungal infections
- 5. Conclusions
- 6. References

1. Introduction

Until recently, malachite green belonged to the most frequently used disinfectants, and, especially in salmonids farming, it was considered as practically irreplaceable. Fungicidal effects of malachite green have been known since the mid-1930s (Foster and Woodbury, 1936). In the 1950s, malachite green was used as a very effective antiseptic, and against both internal and external parasites. In the 1960s,

Supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports of the Czech Republic (Grants No. MSM 6007665809 and No. MSM 6215712402) and the Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic (Grants No. MZe 0002716201 and No. QF3029).

¹University of South Bohemia, Ceske Budejovice, Research Institute of Fish Culture and Hydrobiology, Vodnany, Czech Republic

²University of Veterinary and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Brno, Czech Republic

³Veterinary Research Institute, Brno, Czech Republic

malachite green proved to provide the most effective treatment against protozoan ectoparasites, particularly Ichthyophthirius multifiliis. Malachite green became even more important when its effectiveness against water fungi Saprolegnia sp. in fish eggs (Olah and Farkas, 1978; Alderman and Polglase, 1984) and its applicability for the treatment of proliferative kidney disease of salmonid fish (Clifton-Hadley and Alderman, 1987) were demonstrated. In the Czech Republic, malachite green was most frequently used to treat cases involving Ichthyobodo necator, Trichodina sp., Trichodinella sp., Chilodonella sp. and Ichthyophthirius multifiliis, and skin fungal infections of fish and fish eggs. A short-term malachite green bath was also recommended as a treatment of gill flavobacteriosis in salmonids (Citek et al., 1997).

Malachite green is a basic dye, readily soluble in water. In fish breeding, technical grade malachite green was used in the past. Its exact chemical composition was not often given. When using it, it was therefore necessary to take into account its different toxicological and therapeutic properties. The malachite green bath treatment without a prior test of fish tolerance could result in the death of all the stock thus treated. For that reason, each new production batch of malachite green had to be tested for toxicity to fish and for its antiparasitic action.

Malachite green was used for monocomponent treatment baths (only malachite green at various concentrations) as well as for multicomponent treatment baths (malachite green in combination with formaldehyde, brilliant green, crystal violet, methylene blue, etc.).

Scientific evidence indicated that malachite green (MG) and especially its reduced form, leucomalachite green (LMG), might persist in edible fish tissues for extended periods of time (Mitrowska and Posyniak, 2004).

In 2000, the use of malachite green for food fish was banned in the EU because the general public may become exposed to malachite green through the consumption of treated fish. Concern about the potential for human toxicity and the presence of malachite and leucomalachite green (a metabolite) in the aquatic environment has resulted in increased monitoring especially in food supplies.

Other toxicological tests with malachite green were carried out on warm-blooded animals where carcinogenicity and teratogenicity were demonstrated. A threat to human health was confirmed by that time only in direct contact and manipulation

with malachite green, when it causes the irritation of eyes (Grant, 1974). At present, this agent can be used only in aquarium and ornamental fish breeding.

2. Preventive and curative malachite green baths

2.1. Curative fish baths

In aquarium and ornamental fish rearing, dips, short-term baths and long-term baths are used.

Dips are of 10 to 30 s in duration, and the recommended concentration is within the range of 66.7–100 mg/l. Dips are used to treat topical fungal infections in fish (Nelson, 1974; Citek et al., 1997).

Short-term malachite green baths are treatments 1 to 1.5 h in duration at the bath concentration of 6.7 mg/l. If water temperature is below 10°C, baths may take place in different types of tanks. If water temperature exceeds that limit, baths should be conducted only in holding tanks that can be easily filled with water and emptied within 30 min (Citek et al., 1997).

Long-term (six-day) malachite green baths used to be performed in holding tanks to which enough malachite green was added to obtain a final concentration of 0.5 mg/l in the cyprinids (Svobodova et al., 1997). Somewhat lower concentrations (0.15 to 0.20 mg/l) were used in the salmonids. Following the application of malachite green and its uniform distribution in the tank, the flow of water through the tank was stopped, and adequate aeration had to be provided for. After 24 h, the bath water was drained, clean water was allowed to flow through the tank for an hour, the tank was then refilled with water and another dose of the dye was applied. This procedure was repeated six times in total (Citek et al., 1997). This type of bath was used to control protozoan ectoparasites, particularly the ciliated protozoan Ichthyophthirius multifiliis.

In an effort to reduce concentrations of, and exposure periods to, malachite green, monocomponent malachite green baths were gradually replaced with multicomponent baths. A combined malachite green and formaldehyde bath [0.25 mg malachite green and 0.125 ml 36–38% aqueous solution of formaldehyde (hereinafter only "formalin") dissolved in 1 l of water] appeared very effective. The treatment period depended on available technological facilities and might be 2 h in aerated laminated troughs or 6 hours in holding tanks. When treating

fish with ichthyophthiriosis in laminated troughs, it was recommended to repeat baths 2–3 times a week (Citek et al., 1997).

The most favourite preparation of aquarists is a mixture of formalin, malachite green and methylene blue known as FMC (3.5 g malachite green and 3.5 g methylene blue in 1 000 ml formalin). Curative baths are prepared by adding 1.5–3 ml FMC to 100 l water (Bassleer, 1983). The overall procedure takes three days, and every day a new curative bath must be prepared. The procedure is mainly used to control parasites of the genera *Cryptobia*, *Ichthyobodo*, *Chilodonella*, *Trichodina*, *Trichodinella*, and skin fungal infections.

In his experiments, Lanzing (1965) demonstrated bacteriostatic effects of a bath consisting of three components, i.e. 0.8 g malachite green, 0.8 g brilliant green and 0.6 g crystal violet in 10 l of water. The dips lasted 10 s and were repeated two or three times a week.

2.2. Curative baths for fish eggs

For preventive baths of ornamental and aquarium fish eggs, malachite green was mainly used in the FMC formulation.

For the treatment of carp eggs infected with fungi *Saprolegnia* sp., 1-hour treatment in malachite bath at the concentration of 4–5 mg/l proved effective. In the Czech Republic, fish egg treatments at concentrations of 5–10 mg/l were mainly recommended (exceptionally 50 mg/l) applied for 5–30 min, once or twice daily, or twice weekly. The use of malachite green was prohibited for the treatment of eggs of herbivorous fish and tench (Citek et al., 1997) because eggs of those fish species are very sensitive to malachite green. Bath treatment for salmonid fish eggs was described by Willoughby and Roberts (1992).

3. Safety risks posed by the use of malachite green in fish rearing

In spite of the excellent curative properties of malachite green, we cannot leave out its significant negative properties, including:

3.1. High acute toxicity to fish

Malachite green is highly toxic to fish. Lethal concentrations for fish and recommended thera-

peutic concentrations are sometimes very close to each other (Svobodova and Vykusova, 1997). The progress of intoxication is very rapid and very much alike in both the common carp and rainbow trout. Typical clinical symptoms include restlessness and uncoordinated movements of the fish in the tank. The fish move in the upper half of the tank, leap above the water surface, and carp gasp for air, which is followed by the loss of balance, apathy, agony and death. The pathological anatomical picture of fish intoxication with malachite green is characterized by greenish tinge of their skin and increased production of skin slime. The gills are oedematous, with excessive amounts of mucous matter, and are discoloured by the agent. Vessels in the body cavity were dilated, and muscle tissues and internal organs were often light-green in colour (Machova et al., 2001).

Large differences in the toxicity of malachite green in dependence on its purity and varying concentrations of residual impurities that could render more or less toxic are another major obstacle in its application. High-quality grades of malachite green can be produced by the inclusion of additional purification stages in production, but even a nominal 100% malachite green dry powder by analysis can only contain 82% (oxalate) or 95% (hydrochloride), the rest of the weight being the acid component (Alderman, 1985). Different toxicological properties of malachite green were confirmed in a series of acute toxicity tests on common carp and rainbow trout in which 10 types of malachite green obtained from different sources were investigated. It follows from these experiments that lethal concentrations of some types of malachite green are very close to therapeutic concentrations. In one case the recommended therapeutic concentration of malachite green was even higher than its lethal concentration (Svobodova and Vykusova, 1997).

When preparing bath solutions, it should be borne in mind that malachite green toxicity is significantly influenced by the quality of used water. The bath toxicity and hence of course its effectiveness are primarily influenced by the reducing substances present in water, for example organic substances, ions and pH values (Alderman, 1985; Mitrowska and Posyniak, 2005). The toxicity of malachite green is reduced for example by humic substances (HS) in soft water. Because HS alter the toxicity of malachite green, the therapeutic index might also be influenced by HS. Whereas in the presence of high concentration of Ca, the binding

sites of HS are filled with Ca-ions and these cause the lower binding of malachite green to HS. Therefore, the toxicity as well as the efficacy of the malachite green treatment may be altered in the presence of HS and Ca content in water (Meinelt et al., 2003). Tolerance testing prior to bath treatment was always necessary. Water used in the test had to be the same as water used for bath treatment itself, and the same stocking densities of fish had to be used, if possible.

For the above reasons, it was important to pay great attention to the selection of malachite green to be used, take water parameters and temperature into account and also observe recommended dosages and exposure periods, which could be different for distinct species as well as for different developmental stages of fish (Theron et al., 1991).

3.2. Side-effects on treated fish and fish eggs

In addition to its high acute toxicity, malachite green may be the cause of a number of side-effects on the fish treated.

Trout treated with a 1-hour malachite green bath at the concentration of 2 mg/l showed lower weight gains, higher mortality and overall anaemia later in their life. The brown trout treated with malachite green in their early stages showed a higher incidence of tumours in the abdomen, intestines and liver (Mayer and Jorgenson, 1983).

Tests on cyprinid fish demonstrated that malachite green at a concentration of 0.1 mg/l produced a cytostatic syndrome affecting the chromosome division in experimental fish (Keyl and Werth, 1959). In tissue culture tests involving a 96-hour exposure to malachite green at concentrations from 0.5 to 20 mg/l cytopathic changes, partial cytoplasm vacuolization, granulation and disintegration of a majority of cells were recorded (Studnicka et al., 1977). The application of malachite green had a negative effect on the regeneration of damaged gill epithelium. Histopathological examinations of fish following a malachite green bath treatment showed generalized activation of the reticuloendothelial system (RES) and incidence of inflammatory cells in spleen. Increased haemosiderosis in spleen and kidneys was observed 14 days after a malachite green treatment of fish (Rehulka, 1977).

In carp treated with malachite green, histopathological examinations revealed moderate regressive changes on gills, moderate dystrophic changes in parenchymatous tissues and increased macrophage

activation (Svobodova et al., 1997). Hyperaemia and focal necrotization of liver were observed in rainbow trout after three 40-min malachite green bath treatments at a concentration of 6 mg/l. Mitochondria damage and endoplasmic reticulum dilation were found at the ultrastructural level. Other findings on the gills of treated fish included separation of epithelial cells, leukocytary infiltration, and an onset of lamellar cell necrosis. The frequency of these changes increased with the number of bath treatments (Gerundo et al., 1991; Srivastava et al., 1998).

A malachite green bath treatment also affects the blood count of treated fish. In common carp, a sixday curative malachite green bath treatment at a concentration of 0.5 mg/l caused significant changes in both red blood cell count (decreased haematocrit value, decreased erythrocyte volume, increased mean corpuscular haemoglobin concentration) and white blood cell count, which showed a decrease in both the absolute and the relative numbers of monocytes. A decrease in the blood plasma total protein concentration was also ascertained (Svobodova et al., 1997). Similar results were also reported by other authors (Srivastava et al., 1995; Tanck et al., 1995; Saglam et al., 2003). A long-term exposure of African walking catfish (Clarias gariepinus) to malachite green caused anaemia and a reduction in the number of neutrophil granulocytes (Musa and Omoregie, 1999).

A malachite green bath treatment of rainbow trout eggs delayed the time of sack fry hatching by 5 to 8 days compared with controls. The larvae hatched from treated eggs exhibited an increased frequency of abnormalities (malformation of the head and jaws, spine deformation or missing fins). Although the percentage of eggs that reached the eyed eggs stage after malachite green treatment increased compared with the controls (probably due to reduced fungal infestation of the eggs as a result of the treatment), the increase did not compensate for the loss of larvae due to malformations caused by malachite green treatment (Mayer and Jorgenson, 1983). Fish eggs treated with malachite green also exhibited mitotic defects and chromosomal break points (Mayer and Jorgenson, 1983).

3.3. Accumulation and persistence in treated fish

Malachite green exhibits high affinity to animal tissues. During bath treatment, Bauer et al. (1988) observed a marked decrease in the malachite green

concentration in the bath and its accumulation in the fish. According to literary data, up to 90% of malachite green absorbed by the muscle tissue is accumulated as leucobase (reduced colourless form) and as this form it persists in fish for a very long time (Bauer et al., 1988; Plakas et al., 1996; Alborali et al., 1997). An extremely high concentration of malachite green in fish tissues was detected after a combined bath (1 mg/l malachite green and 0.02 ml/l formalin) (Clifton-Hadley and Alderman, 1987).

The main malachite green excretion pathways in rainbow trout are the liver and the gall bladder. The highest concentrations of leucobase-persisted residues were found in liver (Alderman and Clifton-Hadley, 1993).

The time from bath treatment until the residues drop to an undetectable concentration depends not only on the initial malachite green concentrations in the fish but also on their growth rate. In market-ready fish that will not grow any bigger, a longer time (up to three times) was needed for the elimination of leucobase residues than in fish with a short period of growth (12 months) (Bauer et al., 1988). Data on malachite green persistence in the muscle tissue of various species of fish were also published by Mitrowska and Posyniak (2005) (Table 1).

The Czech Republic had no definite allowable level for a malachite green concentration in food fish, but bath treatment instructions, valid until the year 2000, recommended that a six-month protective period between the treatment and the marketing of fish had to be observed.

In the Czech Republic, 6-day malachite green baths at 0.2 mg/l concentration were very frequently used in rainbow trout rearing facilities. An experiment including a six-day bath of rainbow trout was therefore conducted to find whether the recommended six-month withholding period between the bath and the marketing of the fish was sufficient. Results of the test confirmed that malachite green was highly cumulative. It was also demonstrated that immediately after a long-term bath malachite green concentrations in the muscle tissue of the treated fish exceeded the 700 µg/kg concentration and that the recommended six-month withdrawal period between the bath and the retail marketing of fish was absolutely insufficient (in the muscle of these fish, 21 to 88 µg/kg of malachite green sums was detected six months after the bath). All samples of tested muscle tissue, liver and skin were negative ($< 5 \mu g/kg$, i.e. below the detection threshold of the previously used analytical method) only 12 months after the bath (Machova et al., 1996).

Table 1. Persistence of malachite green (the coloured form MG and the leuco form LMG) in the muscle tissue of various fish species after bath (Mitrowska and Posyniak, 2005)

Fish species (average body weight)	Concentra- tion of MG (mg/l)	Duration of bath (hours)	Water temperature (°C)	pH of bath	Time after bath (days)	Concentration in muscle tissue $(\mu g/kg)$	
						MG	LMG
Eel (4.1 g)	0.10	24	25	6.9	62 80 100	2 bdt bdt	139 28 15
Eel (0.3 g)	0.15	24	25	6.9	330	bdt	bdt
Channel catfish (600 g)	0.80	1	21	7.1	14 42	12 bdt	518 19
Channel catfish (580 g)	0.80	1	22	7.2	14	6	310
Rainbow trout (1 350 g)	1.00	1	21	7.0	1	73	289
Rainbow trout (1 350 g)	1.00	1	12	7.8	5	15	230
Rainbow trout (0.1 g)	0.20	72	9,7	-	40 140	1 bdt	20
Rainbow trout (0.1 g)	0.20	144	13		300	bdt	2

3.4. Residue findings in harvest-size fish

Resolution (EEC) No. 2377/90 of the European Council imposed a strict ban on the use of malachite green in all age categories of food-producing fish (i.e. including fish eggs). This ban came into effect on 1 January 2000. In 2002, the Commission of European Communities approved Decision No. 2002/657/EC, in which it laid down the so-called minimum required performance limit (MRPL) for analytical methods to be used for determining substances that are either not approved for use in the EU states or are explicitly banned. The MRPL for malachite green aggregate concentration was set at 2 μ g/kg.

Because the use of malachite green in food-producing animals was banned but there was no adequately efficient preparation available (and there still is none), it was only to be expected that the malachite green ban will not be strictly observed by fish farmers. This assumption has been confirmed. In the Czech Republic, the first problems in connection with positive results of tests for malachite green in fish exported to Switzerland arose in 2000. In 2001, checks of harvest-size rainbow trout randomly purchased from seven different commercial trout farms in the Czech Republic were made. The fish from all the farms were tested positive in the sum of malachite green (MG and LMG) analysis. While malachite green sums in fish from three farms were from 5 to 10 μg/kg, they ranged between 40 and 102 µg/kg in fish from the other four farms. This fact prompted the State Veterinary Service of the Czech Republic to make further inspections targeted specifically at the determination of malachite green residues. Results of the tests are published annually in Information Bulletins "Contamination of Food Chains with Exogenous Substances" (http:// www.svscr.cz). According to these sources, a total of 156 fish samples were tested in the Czech Republic in 2002 (66 carp samples, 62 rainbow trout samples, six brown trout samples, six tench samples, and other fish species accounted for 10%), of which 17 rainbow trout and one common carp were tested positive (6-208 µg/kg and 11 µg/kg of the sum of malachite green, respectively). The tests of 37 freshwater fishes carried out in 2003 returned four positive results. Positive tests were for one silver carp (9 g/kg), one imported brown trout (13 μg/kg) and two rainbow trout (11 and 73 μg/kg, respectively). In 2004, 20 carp samples were examined with negative results and all 13 rainbow trout examined were found positive $(2-6 \mu g/kg)$.

The situation in fish contamination with malachite green in other countries was described by Mitrowska and Posyniak (2005). In their paper, the authors published results of their investigations into malachite green residues in fish in the EU member states. It follows from their results that malachite green concentrations in excess of the permitted limit (2 µg/kg) were recorded in 112 fish samples in 2002, and that the largest numbers of positive tests were in Ireland (32) followed by France (27), Austria (18) and the UK (16). In 2003, the number of positive results dropped to 81, and most of them were from the UK (29), followed by France (14), Ireland (9) and Austria (9). In Poland, 10 checks were made in 2003 with one sample tested as positive, and in 57 checks made in 2004 thirteen samples of trout, carp and grass carp muscle were tested as positive. Because, however, no specific analytical results are given in the reports, it is not possible to determine how much the limit value was exceeded.

3.5. Effects and persistence of malachite green in the aquatic environment

The literature gives relatively few data on negative effects of malachite green in the aquatic environment. Malachite green persistence of about 80 days is usually given for the natural aquatic environment. It is degraded *inter alia* by hydrolysis (Anonymous, 1999). The effects of malachite green on aquatic organisms (aquatic invertebrates and algae) have not been described and documented sufficiently yet.

Malachite green can be removed from water by a number of chemical, physical and biological technologies.

Chemical methods including reductive and oxidative degradation are effective only when the solute concentration is relatively high. The required electrochemical treatment and high dosage of chemicals may also make the process uneconomical (Kumar et al., 2006).

The most widely used method is activated carbon and coal adsorption (Marking et al., 1990; Aitcheson et al., 2000; Singh et al., 2003). The filtration of contaminated water through granulated active charcoal filters can reduce the malachite green concentration from 1 ppm to levels below 0.1 ppm. The filtration efficiency depends on the size of active charcoal granules and on the water flow rate (Marking et al., 1990; Marking, 1991).

This method does not degrade the pollutants, but only transfers them from the liquid phase to the solid phase, thus causing secondary pollution or requiring regeneration that is a costly and time-consuming process (Tan et al., 2006). Crini et al. (2007) summarized a number of other non-conventional sorbents, which were studied in the literature for their capacity to remove malachite green from aqueous solutions, such as sugarcane dust, sawdust, bottom ash, fly ash, de-oiled soya, maize cob, peat, iron humate, mixed sorbents, activated slag, waste product from agriculture, bentonite, and magnetic nano-particles.

Malachite green may also be removed by biosorbents. In the last years, a number of studies have focused on some microorganisms that are able to decolorize, biosorb or biodegrade dyes in wastewaters. The ability of biosorption and also partial biodegradation was described on microorganisms, including microalgae Cosmarium sp. (Daneshvar et al., 2007a), Chlorella, Chlamydomonas, Euglena (Daneshvar et al., 2007b), bacteria Kurthia sp. (Sani and Banerjee, 1999), Citrobacter sp. (An et al., 2002) and fungi Formes sclerodermeus, Phanerochaete chrysosporium (Papinutti et al., 2006) and Pithophora sp. (Kumar et al., 2006). The use of biomaterials as sorbents for the treatment of wastewaters will provide as a potential alternative to the conventional treatment (Kumar et al., 2006).

3.6. Toxic effects of malachite green in mammals

The basic chemical structure of malachite green and its metabolites (Figure 1) signals a degree of carcinogenicity. Malachite green is transformed in organisms to leucomalachite green, which accumulates in the tissues of exposed organisms from where it can easily get into the human food chain. Both clinical and experimental observations reported so far reveal that malachite green is a multi-organ toxin (Srivastava et al., 2004). Malachite green belongs to the same group of triphenylmethane dyes as crystal violet, in which carcinogenic effects have been demonstrated. Based on the same group classification, a carcinogenic effect can be assumed (Au et al., 1978; Culp and Beland, 1996).

The median lethal dose (LD_{50}) for malachite green in rats is 275 mg/kg after peroral application, and more than 2 000 mg/kg in the case of dermal exposures. The acute toxicity of LMG is unknown, but it is assumed to be about ten times lower than that of the initial ion or carbinol forms of MG (Clemmensen et al., 1984).

Toxic effects of the dye (MG and LMG) have been tested on mice and rats in 28-day administration experiments. It was demonstrated that the tested substances showed affinity to liver, thyroid gland and bladder, where morphological changes were observed. The highest level of malachite green at

Leucomalachite green (LMG)

Figure 1. Structural formula of malachite green, its carbinol form and leucomalachite green metabolite

which no statistically significant adverse effects on the organism were observed compared with the control group (NOAEL) was found to be 8 mg/kg in rats and 40 mg/kg in mice. The NOAEL of the leucomalachite green was found at 23 mg/kg for rats and 77 mg/kg for mice. It follows from the results that mice are less sensitive to the effects of the dye. Contrary to the original assumption based on the structural arrangement, relatively higher toxicity of leucomalachite green and its ability to form DNA adducts in the liver, and thus also the potential for carcinogenic effects, were demonstrated (Srivastava et al., 2004).

Laboratory tests also demonstrated that malachite green may damage DNA after *in vitro* metabolic activation, although no genotoxicity was demonstrated in *in vivo* tests. No genotoxic effects induced by leucomalachite green were demonstrated *in vitro*, and malachite green effects *in vivo* were confirmed only by the positive results of tests on transgenic mice. These findings suggest a low or even doubtful genotoxic potential of the two compounds (Fessard et al., 1999).

Malachite and leucomalachite green carcinogenicity was studied in two-year tests on rats and mice. Carcinogenicity changes were observed in the liver of mice fed leucomalachite green at 31 mg/kg (Culp et al., 2006).

Thus there arises a question why the leucoform of malachite green produces nodules in the liver of only mice while most of the tests assessing the formation of DNA adducts showed that the rats were the more sensitive species, where, however, the administration of leucomalachite green failed to induce any carcinogenic division. On the other hand, Werth (1958) reported a marked increase in the number of tumours in internal organs of rats that were fed a diet containing malachite green. Werth (1958) also reported defects in up to nine generations of the progeny of rats after oral application of 1 mg malachite green, which is also contradictory to conclusions drawn by Fessard et al. (1999). Although it is difficult to pronounce on any dependence between genotoxic and carcinogenic properties on the basis of the information presented, malachite green nevertheless appears to be a promoting agent in the formation of nodular lesions (Culp et al., 2006).

Based on results in rabbits, malachite green is classified among substances with teratogenic effects (Meyer and Jorgenson, 1983). It has also been demonstrated that MG is able to inhibit mi-

tochondrial oxidasis and glutathion-S-transferase (Glanville and Clark, 1997), and that LMG is able to inhibit thyroidal peroxidase, whose activity determines the thyroid hormone synthesis (Doerge et al., 1998). Besides exhibiting a highly cytotoxic action on all mammalian cells, malachite green also induces lipid peroxidation and the formation of dangerous free radicals (Srivastava et al., 2004).

Information on genotoxicity, bioaccumulation and reproductive genotoxicity is still incomplete, and neither have the admissible daily intake (ADI) limits been set.

4. Alternative use of other substances for the treatment of fish eggs and fish

Malachite green has gradually been replaced in the treatment of superficial fungal infections and infections with protozoan parasites with the exception of *Ichthyophthirius multifiliis*.

In treatments of topical mycoses, malachite green is being replaced mainly by formaldehyde, potassium permanganate and bronopol (2-bromo 2-nitropropane 1,3 diol) baths (Citek et al., 1997; Cawley, 1999; Pottinger and Day, 1999). Sodium chloride and chloramine have been successfully used in the treatment of protozoan infections and flavobacteriosis of the gills in salmonids, respectively.

4.1. Treatment of fish eggs

In some EU states, Pyceze solution was registered for treatment baths for food fish eggs (http://www. vmd.gov.uk/espcsite/Documents/131969.DOC). The preparation was developed in Great Britain in cooperation between salmonid fish producers and the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), and it is manufactured by Novartis Animal Vaccines. Its active ingredient is bronopol (2-bromo 2-nitropropane 1,3 diol), a member of the aliphatic halogenitro compounds, routinely used as an antimicrobial preservative. It is active against the cell wall and membranes of metabolically active bacteria and also fungi. Pyceze is particularly recommended for the treatment of salmonid fish eggs, and for the treatment and control of fungal infections (Saprolegnia sp.) in rainbow trout and Atlantic salmon. Pyceze is not recommended for the treatment of rainbow trout alevins or smolting Atlantic salmon because increased toxicity of the preparation to these developmental stages was demonstrated. Pyceze is degraded by prolonged or repeated exposure to UV light, which may alter its toxicity profile. It is therefore recommended not to pass Pyceze treated water repeatedly through ultra-violet sterilizing filters.

Eggs are treated once daily at 50 mg/l Bronopol for 30 min, commencing 24 h after fertilisation at the earliest. Fish are treated at 20 mg/l Bronopol for 30 min once daily, for up to 14 consecutive days. Pyceze (Bronopol) may also be used to advantage against bacterial diseases, such as the rainbow trout fry syndrome (RTFS), i.e. anaemic syndrome of the rainbow trout fry caused by *Flavobacterium psychrophilum*, bacterial gill disease (*Flavobacterium* sp.) and other bacterial diseases. We should, however, bear in mind that the preparation is irritating to eyes, lungs and skin, and the use of protective equipment is necessary. Pyceze can be imported to the Czech Republic and applied here based on the approval by the State Veterinary Service.

Baths of 36% to 38% formaldehyde (formalin) solutions at concentrations from 0.05 to 0.35 ml/l for 10 min once in every two hours are used to treat eggs of herbivorous fish. Formaldehyde baths can also be used for the treatment of eggs of other fish species (Citek et al., 1997).

In the treatment of eggs of tench and other cyprinid fish, malachite green may be replaced with iodine-detergent preparations Wescodyne and Jodisol (with poly-N-vinylpyrolidon-2 as the active agent). These preparations are effective against fungi, bacteria and viruses that may be transmitted by fish eggs. Wescodyne is used at concentrations of 2 to 20 ml/l, Jodisol at 2 to 50 ml/l, exposure times of both the preparations range from 2 to 5 min once or twice daily in a broad range of fish species (Citek et al., 1997).

To treat eggs of salmonid and coregonid fishes, dipping in solutions of 20 to 50 g/l sodium chloride or 0.5 g/l acriflavine for 20 to 30 min can also be used. Acriflavine is also used for the treatment of aquarium fish eggs (Citek et al., 1997).

The need of chemotherapeutics can be minimized by the use of safe groundwater (free of fungal germs, etc.) for egg incubation. It means that, first and foremost, good quality water needs to be provided. If no source of such quality water is available, it is recommended to disinfect the supplied water by UV light (e.g. by installing a UV lamp in the supply pipe). UV light effectiveness may however be markedly reduced in water con-

taminated by undissolved particles. In aquarium rearing facilities, water disinfection by ozone has been used to advantage (the presence of ozone in atmosphere requires that adequate labour safety and health protection measures for the staff need to be in place) (Citek et al., 1997).

4.2. Fish treatment – treatment of ichthyophthiriosis and fungal infections

One of the alternative, albeit technically prohibitive, methods of treating ichthyophthiriosis is a temporary increase in water temperature. The treatment consists in increasing the temperature of water with infected fish to 31–32°C and maintaining it there for three days. After three days, the water is allowed to gradually cool to the original temperature. The fish population gets rid of the infection, and acquires a considerable degree of immunity in the process. This method is used in aquarium fish rearing and in special fish-rearing facilities with heated water (Citek et al., 1997).

Ichthyophthiriosis can also be successfully treated either by placing the fish in another tank or by keeping the fish in a strong stream of water for some time. Moving the fish to another tank has proved successful for the treatment of ichthyophthiriosis in gold fish of reasonable good health. The fish were moved daily for three days. On day four, only very few *Ichthyophthirius multifiliis* were found. Ichthyophthiriosis was also largely controlled in rainbow trout kept in a strong stream of water for 10 days. The fish were fed spleen to keep them in good condition (Svobodova et al., 1995).

Following the ban on the use of malachite green in the EU, a seminar on malachite green substitutes and alternative strategies against fungal infections and ichthyophthiriosis was organised at the 10th International Conference of the European Association of Fish Pathologists (EAFP) in Dublin (Rahkonen et al., 2002). The results of a questionnaire sent to the Finnish producers of salmonid fish were presented there where they were asked to compare the effectiveness of Leteux-Meyer mixture (malachite green and formalin) with that of other preparations. Short-term formalin baths (60 or 250 mg/l for 60 or 20 min), sodium carbonate peroxyhydrate baths (60-90 mg/l, 30-60 min, daily for 4-6 days) or baths in a mixture of acetic acid, peracetic acid and hydrogen peroxide (Detarox, 10 mg/l 25-40 min, second treatment

after 4–6 days) were evaluated for the most part as less effective than malachite green treatment. The same or better results were achieved with copper sulphate dip baths (250–500 mg/l for 30 s). The problem of copper sulphate is its high toxicity and the fact that dip baths are very labour intensive to organize.

Another alternative is the use of metronidazole (humane preparation Entizol) or dimetridazole in the feed. Metronidazole is applied at a concentration of 7.5 mg/kg fish per day for a week. A dimetridazole dose is 56 mg/kg fish daily for 10 days (Citek et al., 1997). Neither metronidazole nor dimetridazole are, however, registered for use in food animals in the EU. For that reason, they can only be used to treat non-food fish (Rahkonen et al., 2002). These approaches proved successful only in fish that readily accepted medicated feed.

Scottish authors compared the effectiveness of six ichthyophthiriosis suppressing chemotherapeutics included in the feed. Amprolium hydrochloride (C₁₄H₁₉N₄+Cl-HCl) is in competition with the active transport of thiamine. Clopidol ($C_7H_7C_{12}NO$) blocks the release of coccidial oocysts. Decoquinate (C₂₅H₃₅NO₅) interferes with cellular respiration. Monensin ($C_{36}H_{61}O_{11}Na$) affects mitochondrial activity. Nicarbazin $(C_{19}H_{18}N_6O_6)$ inhibits energy metabolism. Salomycin sodium (C₄₂H₆₉NaO₁₁) activity is similar to that of monensin. Tests with rainbow trout fry have shown that the use of amprolium hydrochloride (104 mg/l) and clopidol (65 mg/l) 10 days prior to experimental infection reduced the number of trophozoites by 62% and 35.2%, respectively. In curative treatment, chemotherapeutics mixed into feed were administered for 10 days. Amprolium hydrochloride (63 mg/l and 75 mg/l) reduced the number of surviving trophozoites by 77.6% and 32.2%, respectively, clopidol (92 mg/l) reduced the number by 20.1% and salomycin sodium (38, 43 and 47 mg/l) reduced the numbers of trophozoites by 80.2%, 71.9% and 93.3%, respectively (Shinn et al., 2003).

The ichthyophthiriosis treatment in trout was also tested in field trials on two Finnish farms in fish kept in concrete tanks. The preparations tested in the experiments included formalin, potassium permanganate (KMnO $_4$), chloramine, hydrogen peroxide (H $_2$ O $_2$) and preparations Per Aqua and Desirox, which are a combination of acetic acid and hydrogen peroxide. All of these preparations were tested individually or in combination with formalin. It was demonstrated that the use of those

preparations or their combinations may successfully reduce the fish infestation with parasites to such an extent that high mortality is prevented in the first four weeks of infection, the immune response is meanwhile induced and the treatment can be discontinued. The combination Desirox/formalin proved to be the most effective (Rintamaki-Kinnunen et al., 2005a).

Experiments similar to those conducted by the Finnish authors were carried out with salmonids in in-ground ponds where the situation is more complicated compared with concrete tanks. In three experiments on Finnish farms, formalin and formalin/chloramine and formalin/Desirox combinations were used. When all three preparations were used, parasites were eliminated after four to five weeks of treatment. The Desirox/formalin combination was not however more effective than the others. This was probably so because the organic contamination in in-ground ponds is greater than in concrete tanks, which may reduce the effectiveness of the preparation (Rintamaki-Kinnunen et al., 2005b).

Besides the above-mentioned Pyceze, preparations used for the control of ichthyophthiriosis in Austria include Perotan Aktiv (FIAP aquaculture), which is described by the producer as an alternative to chloramine (the composition of the preparation is not given). Perotan Aktiv is used at a concentration of 10 mg/l and it is applied on days 1, 3, 5, 7, 12 and 14.

When searching for malachite green substitutes, in vitro methods are very often used which, however, fail to produce equally convincing results when tested in in vivo experiments again. For example, in vitro experiments in Switzerland with amphotericin B, chlortetracycline and formalin seemed to indicate their equal potential for successful treatment of ichthyophthiriosis as that of malachite green. In vivo tests, however, failed to corroborate that (Wahli et al., 1993). No adequate replacement for malachite green for the treatment of ichthyophthiriosis has been found. This is mainly due to the fact that these parasites penetrate into topical tissues of the body, and are thus partly protected against antiparasitic baths (Lom and Dykova, 1992).

The preparation Virkon S is also used as a malachite green substitute. It is a disinfectant (Antec International) patented in over 20 countries of the world. Virkon S is a blend of peroxygen compounds, surfactants, organic acids and inorganic salts that control the system pH. Its action mechanism is based on a strong oxidation effect on viruses, bac-

teria and fungi. For disinfection in aquaculture, 1:100 dilution (1% solution) is used and, according to currently available information, it is used in various European countries against a broad range of pathogens (http://www.antecint.co.uk).

5. Conclusions

In spite of partial success in the treatment of some diseases using the above "replacement" preparations, no truly adequate substitute for malachite green has been found.

Success in farming the economically important fish species hinges on a possibility of providing an adequate supply of good-quality water with minimum contamination by organic substances and on the use of good-quality feeds that will keep fish in the best health condition possible and increase their resistance to infections.

Because malachite green will persist in the aquatic environment for a long time and may pass via the food chain from there to untreated fish intended for human consumption, every care must be taken when malachite green used for baths of aquarium or ornamental fish is being disposed of. If enough attention is not paid to the problem, malachite green contained in baths or industrial waste water might penetrate to the aquatic environment and cause serious problems there.

6. REFERENCES

- Aitcheson S.J., Arnett J., Murray K.R., Zhang J. (2000): Removal of aquaculture therapeutants by carbon adsorption. 1. Equilibrium adsorption behaviour of single components. Aquaculture, 183, 269–284.
- Alborali L., Sangiorgi E., Leali M., Guadagnini P.F., Sicura S. (1997): The persistence of malachite green in the edible tissue of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Rivista Italiana di Acquacoltura, 32, 45–60.
- Alderman D.J. (1985): Malachite green: a review. Journal of Fish Diseases, 8, 289–298.
- Alderman D.J., Clifton-Hadley R.S. (1993): Malachite green a pharmacokinetic study in rainbow-trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum). Journal of Fish Diseases, 16, 297–311.
- Alderman D.J., Polglase J.L. (1984): A comparative investigation of the effects of fungicides on *Saprolegnia parasitica* and *Aphanomyces astaci*. Transactions of the British Mycological Society, 83, 313–318.

- An S.Y., Min S.K., Cha I.H., Choi Y.L., Cho Y.S., Kim C.H., Lee Y.C. (2002): Decolorization of triphenylmethane and azo dyes by *Citrobacter* sp. Biotechnology Letters, 24, 1037–1040.
- Anonymous (1999): Malachite green. In: Grangolli S. (ed.): The Dictionary of Substances and their Effects. The Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge, England. 120–122.
- Au W., Pathak S., Collie C. J., Hsu T.C. (1978): Cytogenetic toxicity of gentian violet and crystal violet on mammalian cells *in vitro*. Mutation Research, 58, 269–276.
- Bassleer G. (1983): Medikamentose Behandlung von Fischkrankheiten. In: Neumann-Neudamm J. (ed.): Bildatlas der Fischkrankheiten (Photo atlas of fish diseases in the fresh water aquarium). Urania-Verlag, Leipzig, Jena, Berlin. 250–262.
- Bauer K., Dangschat H., Knoppler H.O., Neudegger J. (1988): Uptake and elimination of malachite green in rainbow trout (in German). Archiv fur Lebensmittelhygiene, 39, 97–102.
- Cawley G.D. (1999): Bronopol: an alternative fungicide to malachite green? Fish Veterinary Journal, 3, 79–81.
- Citek J., Svobodova Z., Tesarcik J. (1997): General prevention of fish diseases. In: Diseases of Freshwater and Aquarium Fish (in Czech). Informatorium, Prague. 9–49. ISBN 80-86073-32-7.
- Clemmensen S., Jensen J. C., Jensen N.J., Meyer O., Olsen P., Wurtzen G. (1984): Toxicological studies on malachite green: a triphenylmethane dye. Archives of Toxicology, 56, 43–45.
- Clifton-Hadley R.S., Alderman D.J. (1987): The effects of malachite green upon proliferative kidney disease. Journal of Fish Diseases, 10, 101–107.
- Crini G., Peindy H.N., Gimbert F., Robert C. (2007): Removal of CI Basic Green 4 (malachite green) from aqueous solutions by adsorption using cyclodextrinbased adsorbent: Kinetic and equilibrium studies. Separation and Purification Technology, 53, 97–110.
- Culp S.J., Beland F.A. (1996): Malachite green: a toxicological review. Journal of the American College of Toxicology, 15, 219–238.
- Culp S.J., Mellick P.W., Trotter R.W., Greenlees K.J., Kodell R.L., Beland F.A. (2006): Carcinogenicity of malachite green chloride and leucomalachite green in B6C3F(1) mice and F344 rats. Food and Chemical Toxicology, 44, 1204–1212.
- Daneshvar N., Ayazloo M., Khataee A.R., Pourhassan M. (2007a): Biological decolorization of dye solution containing malachite green by microalgae *Cosmarium* sp. Bioresource Technology, 98, 1176–1182.
- Daneshvar N., Khataee A.R., Rasoulifard M.H., Pourhassan M. (2007b): Biodegradation of dye solution con-

- taining malachite green: Optimization of effective parameters using Taguchi method. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 143, 214–219.
- Doerge D. R., Chang H. C., Divi R. L., Churchwell M.I. (1998): Mechanism for inhibition of thyroid peroxidase by leucomalachite green. Chemical Research in Toxicology, 11, 1098–1104.
- Fessard V., Godard T., Huet S., Maurot A., Poul J.M. (1999): Mutagenicity of malachite and leucomalachite green in *in vitro* tests. Journal of Applied Toxicology, 19, 421–430.
- Foster F.J., Woodbury L. (1936): The use of malachite green as a fish fungicide and antiseptic. The Progressive Fish-Culturist, 3, 7–9.
- Gerundo N., Alderman D.J., Clifton-Hadley R.S., Feist S.W. (1991): Pathological effects of repeated doses of malachite green: A preliminary study. Journal of Fish Diseases, 14, 521–532.
- Glanville S. D., Clark A. G. (1997): Inhibition of human glutathione S-transferases by basic triphenylmethane dyes. Life Sciences, 60, 1535–1544.
- Grant W.M. (1974): Toxicology of the eye. In: Thomas C. (ed.): Toxicology of the Eye. Springfield, IL. 430–433.
- Keyl H.G., Werth G. (1959): Strukturveranderungen an chromosomen durch malachitgrun. Naturwissenschaften, 46, 453–454.
- Kumar K.V., Ramamurthi V., Sivanesan S. (2006): Biosorption of malachite green, a cationic dye onto *Pithophora* sp., a fresh water algae. Dyes and Pigments, 69, 102–107.
- Lanzing W.J.R. (1965): Observations on malachite green in relations to its application to fish diseases. Hydrobiologia, 25, 426–441.
- Lom J., Dykova I. (1992): Ciliates (*Phylum ciliophora*). In: Lom J., Dykova I. (eds.): Protozoan Parasites of Fishes. Developments in Aquaculture and Fisheries Science, 26. Elsevier, Amsterdam. 237–285.
- Machova J., Svobodova Z., Svobodník J., Piacka V., Vykusova B., Kocova A. (1996): Persistence of malachite green in tissues of rainbow trout after a long-term therapeutic bath. Acta Veterinaria Brno, 65, 151–159.
- Machova J., Svobodova Z., Svobodnik J. (2001): Risk of malachite green application in fish farming a reiew (in Czech). Veterinarstvi, 51, 132–132.
- Marking L.L. (1991): Development of carbon filtration systems for removal of malachite green. In: Colt J., White R.J. (eds.): Fisheries-Bioengineering-Symposium. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, MD, 427 pp.
- Marking L.L., Leith D., Davis J. (1990): Development of a carbon filter system for removing malachite green from hatchery effluents. The Progressive Fish-Culturist, 52, 92–99.

- Mayer F.P., Jorgenson T.A. (1983): Teratological and other effects of malachite green on development of rainbow trout and rabbits. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society, 112, 818–824.
- Meinelt T., Pietrock M., Wienke A., Volker F. (2003): Humic substances and the water calcium content change the toxicity of malachite green. Journal of Applied Ichthyology, 19, 380–382.
- Mitrowska K., Posyniak A. (2004): Determination of malachite green and its metabolite, leucomalachite green, in fish muscle by liquid chromatography. Bulletin of the Veterinary Institute in Pulawy, 48, 173–176.
- Mitrowska K., Posyniak A. (2005): Malachite green: pharmacological and toxicological aspects and residue control (in Polish). Medycyna Weterynaryjna, 61, 742–745.
- Musa S.O., Omoregie E. (1999): Haematological changes in the mudfish *Clarias gariepinus* (Burchell) exposed to malachite green. Journal of Aquatic Sciences, 14, 37–42.
- Nelson N.C. (1974): A review of the literature on the use of malachite green in fisheries. V.S. National Technical Information Service, Washington, D.C. Document No. PB 235450, 88 pp.
- Olah J., Farkas J. (1978): Effect of temperature, pH, antibiotics, formalin and malachite green on growth and survival of saprolegnia and achlya parasitic on fish. Aquaculture, 13, 273–288.
- Papinutti L., Mouso N., Forchiassin F. (2006): Removal and degradation of the fungicide dye malachite green from aqueous solution using the system wheat bran-Fomes sclerodermeus. Enzyme and Microbial Technology, 39, 848–853.
- Plakas S.M., El-Said K.R., Stehly G.R., Gingerich W.H., Allen J.L. (1996): Uptake, tissue distribution, and metabolism of malachite green in the channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 53, 1427–1433.
- Pottinger T.G., Day J.G. (1999): A *Saprolegnia parasitica* challenge system, for rainbow trout: assessment of Pyceze as an anti-fungal agent for both fish and ova. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms, 36, 129–141.
- Rahkonen R., Koski P, Shinn A.P., Wootten R., Valtonen E.T., Rahkonen M., Mannermaa-Keranen A.L., Suomalainen L.R., Rintamaki-Kinnunen P., Lankinen Y., Rahkonen R., Jamsa K., Konttinen E., Kannel R., Grant A., Marshall J., Hunter R., Pylkko P., Eskelinen P. (2002): Post malachite green: Alternative strategies for fungal infections and white spot disease. Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists, 22, 152–157.
- Rehulka J. (1977): The use, safety and toxicity of a long-term exposure of autumn carp fry to malachite green (in Czech). Zivocisna Vyroba, 22, 711–720.

- Rintamaki-Kinnunen P., Rahkonen M., Mannermaa-Keranen A.L., Suomalainen L.R., Mykra H., Valtonen E.T. (2005a): Treatment of ichthyophthiriasis after malachite green. I. Concrete tanks at salmonid farms. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms, 64, 69–76.
- Rintamaki-Kinnunen P., Rahkonen M., Mykra H., Valtonen E.T. (2005b): Treatment of ichthyophthiriasis after malachite green. II. Earth ponds at salmonid farms. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms, 66, 15–20.
- Saglam N., Ispir U., Yonar M.E. (2003): The effect of a therapeutic bath in malachite green on some haematological parameters of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*, Walbaum, 1792). Fresenius Environmental Bulletin, 12, 1207–1210.
- Sani R.K., Banerjee U.C. (1999): Decolorization of triphenylmethane dyes and textile and dye-stuff effluent by *Kurthia* sp. Enzyme and Microbial Technology, 24, 433–437.
- Shinn A.P., Wootten R., Cote I., Sommerville C. (2003): Efficacy of selected oral chemotherapeutants against *Ichthyophthirius multifiliis* (Ciliophora: Ophyroglenidae) infecting rainbow trout. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms, 55, 17–22.
- Singh K.P., Mohan D., Sinha S., Tondon G.S., Gosh D. (2003): Colour removal from wastewater using low-cost activated carbon derived from agricultural waste material. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research, 42, 1965–1976.
- Srivastava S.J., Singh N.D., Srivastava A.K., Sinha R. (1995): Acute toxicity of malachite green and its effects on certain blood parameters of a catfish, *Heteropneustes fossilis*. Aquatic Toxicology, 31, 241–247.
- Srivastava A.K., Sinha R., Singh N.D., Srivastava S.D. (1998): Histopathological changes in a freshwater catfish, *Heteropneustes fossilis* following exposure to malachite green. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of India. Section B. Biological Sciences, 68, 253–257.
- Srivastava S., Sinha R., Roy D. (2004): Toxicological effects of malachite green. Aquatic Toxicology, 66, 319–329.
- Studnicka M., Sopinska A., Niezgoda J. (1977): Toxicity of methylene blue and malachite green on the strength of changes in the carp gonads culture (in Polish). Medycyna Weterynaryjna, 33, 42–44.

- Svobodova Z., Vykusova B. (1997): Ecotoxicological evaluation of pharmaca used in fisheries (in Czech). Bulletin of the Research Institute of Fish Culture and Hydrobiology, Vodnany, Czech Republic, 33, 244–254.
- Svobodova Z., Machova J., Vykusova B. (1995): Testing the possibility of treatment of different fish species infected with *Ichthyophthirius multifiliis*. In: 7th International Conference, EAFP, Diseases of Fish and Shellfish, Palma de Mallorca, 122.
- Svobodova Z., Groch L., Flajshans M., Vykusova B., Machova J. (1997): The effect of long-term therapeutic bath of malachite green on common carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L). Acta Veterinaria Brno, 66, 111–117.
- Tan X.Y., Kyaw N.N., Teo W.K., Li K. (2006): Decolorization of dye-containing aqueous solutions by the polyelectrolyte-enhanced ultrafiltration (PEUF) process using a hollow fibre membrane module. Separation and Purification Technology, 52, 110–116.
- Tanck M.W.T., Hajee C.A.J., Olling M., Haagsma A., Boon J.H. (1995): Negative effect of malachite green on haematocrit of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss* Walbaum). Bulletin of the European Association of Fish Pathologists, 15, 134–136.
- Theron J., Prinsloo J.F., Schoonbee H.J. (1991): Investigations into the effects of concentration and duration of exposure to formalin and malachite green on the survival of the larvae and juveniles of the common carp *Cyprinus carpio* L. and the sharptooth catfish *Clarias gariepinus* (Burchell). Onderstepoort Journal of Veterinary Research, 58, 245–251.
- Wahli T., Schmitt M., Meier W. (1993): Evaluation of alternatives to malachite green oxalate as a therapeutant for ichthyophthiriosis in rainbow-trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. Journal of Applied Ichthyology, Zeitschrift fur Angewandte Ichthyologie, 9, 237–249.
- Werth G. (1958): Disturbances of the heredity pattern and production of tumours by experimental tissue anoxia. Arzneimittel-Forschung-Drug Research, 8, 735–744.
- Willoughby L.G., Roberts R.J. (1992): Towards strategic use of fungicides against *Saprolegnia parasitica* in salmonid fish hatcheries. Journal of Fish Diseases, 15, 1–13.

Received: 2007–01–31 Accepted after corrections: 2007–10–12

Corresponding Author:

MVDr. Eliska Sudova, University of South Bohemia, Ceske Budejovice, Research Institute of Fish Culture and Hydrobiology, Zatisi 728/II, 389 25 Vodnany, Czech Republic Tel. +420 387 774 623, mail: sudova@vurh.jcu.cz